
1 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE ENVIRONMENT SPC 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2., 

 
ON WEDNESDAY, 25 NOVEMBER 2015 AT 4.00 PM 

 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
WEDNESDAY, 25 NOVEMBER 2015 

  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of the Environment Strategic Policy Committee meetings 

 

  24th June 2015 (Copy Attached) 

  23rd September 2015 (Copy Attached) 

  14th October 2015 (Copy Attached) 
 

1 - 8 

2   Chairpersons Business   
 

 

3   Correspondence (See attached)   
 

9 - 10 

4   SPC submission on Draft City Development Plan   
 

11 - 14 

5   Air Quality in the Ringsend Area – Joe McCarthy (Attached)   
 

15 - 38 

6   Air Quality Presentation (Presentation Attached)   
 

39 - 48 

7   Draft Dublin City Council Litter Management Plan 2016 – 2018 (Plan Attached)   
 

49 - 82 

8   Dublin Waste to Energy update report. (Report Attached)   
 

83 - 120 

9   Draft Transparency Code – Regulation of Lobbying Act 2015 (Report Attached)   
 

121 - 
138 

10   Meeting Dates 2016   
 

139 - 
140 

11   Motion referred from the North West Area Committee 
 
“That the Manager arranges for a full review of litter bins in the Northwest Area. 
Can the Manager arrange for bins which were removed in recent times to be 
replaced. There is an large amount of dog dirt being bagged and dropped around 
the place which might be avoided if bins were in place to put the bags into.” 
 

141 - 
142 

12   A.O.B.   
 

 



2 
 

 



  
Page 1 

 
  

 
 

___________________________________________________________________  
 

MINUTES OF THE ENVIRONMENT STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 25th NOVEMBER 2015 

 

 
 

1. Minutes of the Environment Strategic Policy Committee meetings. 
 

 24th June 2015  

 23rd September 2015  

 14th October 2015  
 
       Order: Agreed. 
 

Matters Arising  

 Meeting Proceedings Agendae, Minutes & associated documentation to 
recorded on the Council’s Website. 
The Director of Traffic pointed out that the relevant documentation is on the 
website up to and including the April meeting and the balance will be placed 
on the web as the minutes are now agreed. 

 Copy of Departmental guidelines that determine allowance paid to Chairs 
of Committee. 
The Director of Traffic advised that the guidelines will be circulated to  
Members. 

 Terms of reference of the Community Gain Fund Committee and copies of 
the minutes of it’s’ meetings. 
The Chair advised that he was waiting for the minutes of this Committee’s 
meetings to be agreed to seek this information and will now do so as the 
minutes have been agreed.  

 Source of Waste for the Dublin Waste to Energy Facility. 
Member, Joe McCarthy corrected the record that The Executive Engineer did 
not state in a reply to a Council Question that waste will be sourced from the 
Greater Dublin Area however the Dublin region and the Eastern & Midland 
Region was referenced in a letter to Paddy McCartan from a Director of 
Covanta in response to an article in the Evening Herald. The Executive 
Engineer referred to the statement by Mr. Daly of Covanta at today’s site 
visit that clarified that waste will come from primarily the Dublin region.  

 Community Gain fund is for the Waste to Energy project is without 
precedent. 
Member, Joe McCarthy pointed out that such a fund has been in place since 
2007 at the Corrib Gas project. 
 

2. Chairpersons Business 
 
COP 21 Climate Change Conferences - Paris 
 

Page 1



  
Page 2 

 
  

The Chair referred to a request from the Lord Mayor to represent her at the COP 21 
Climate Change Conference in Paris. The Chair recommended that Councillor Byrne 
attend in her capacity as Chair of Climate Change Subcommittee which was agreed. 
 
Dollymount Flood Wall – External Expert Brief 
 
The Director of Traffic circulated a report advising that following the approval of a 
motion by Dublin City Councillors at an emergency meeting of the Council an external 
expert will be appointed to reassess the partially constructed and proposed sea wall 
along the Clontarf Road.  
 
It was agreed that the brief will cover the feasibility of the installation of a glass wall      
at the Causeway. 
 
It was queried if it would be possible to give the details of the panel of external    
experts procured to the various residents groups as part of the selection process.  
 

The Director of Traffic pointed out that by doing this it is unlikely that each residents 
group would select the same consultant and that it is not normal practice for DCC to 
allow the public to choose the consultant. It is not feasible to have a non technical 
group decide on the merits of a technical expert. 

 
      Order: Noted 

 
3. Correspondence 

 
Response from An Bord Pleanala in relation to the Chair’s query regarding the 
interpretation of condition 3 of the Dublin Waste to Energy planning permission. 
 
Members raised concern that An Bord Pleanala will not interpret a condition that 
they placed in the permission. Councillor Flynn requested that that An Bord Pleanala 
should be asked again to interpret the condition that the Bord attached to the 
permission granted. Mr. McCarthy suggested that a legal and accountancy opinion 
should be sought on this matter. 
 
It was agreed that  An Bord Pleanala be contacted again on this matter and it is 
referred to the Finance SPC for its consideration. 
 

Order: Noted  
 
4. SPC submission on Draft City Development Plan. 

 
It was agreed that the submission compiled by Member Robert Moss be submitted 
on behalf of the SPC. 
It was requested that Poolbeg West (SDRA No.6) in the Dublin City Development Plan 
be zoned amenity and not mixed use development.  However it was suggested that 
the submission should be in general terms, i.e. Low Lying Lands should be zoned 
amenity using the Poolbeg area as an example. 

 
Order: Agreed 
 
5. Air Quality in the Ringsend Area – Joe McCarthy 

 

Page 2



  
Page 3 

 
  

Members thanked Mr. McCarthy for his presentation and the following questions 
were raised. 
 

 Is Dr. Broderick’s report available 

 Long term Health Implications 

 Availability of Air Quality Readings 

 Is it possible to have a continuous monitoring machine 

 What is continuous monitoring 

 Should the Local Communities should be appraised of the Air Quality 
standard 

 Are there regulations that dictate the number of monitoring stations, 
population, area etc. 

         
Member Joe McCarthy in response to questions raised stated. 
 

 The Broderick report is available and he will forward it to Councillor 
O’Moore. 

 More monitoring machines are required. In Northern Ireland there are 20 
such stations as against 31 in the State. 

 In relation to publicising the Air Quality in Ringsend / Poolbeg  Mr. McCarthy 
would rather use the formal channels, this SPC and The Air Quality Unit, DCC 
to address any Air Quality issues in Poolbeg, raise the importance of the 
issue and support the Air Quality unit in achieving more funding and seek 
guidance from the EPA. 

 He is concerned about waiting for the Minister’s latest initiative to come to 
fruition as the monitoring is required now. 

 Monitoring machines measure in real time. Typically  1, 8 & 24 hour 
averages are taken out. The readings for Dublin are visible on the EPA 
website and the pollution levels can be seen. 

 DCC should have monitoring machines in the east of the City but this is not 
the case. 

 The legal requirement on the number of stations that a conurbation such as 
Dublin should have is low and insufficient. 

 The stringency of the WHO standards is far higher. 
               

Mr. James Nolan, Executive Engineer in response to questions raised and M. 
McCarthy’s presentation stated that 
 

 The Waste to Energy Project went through a statutory process, the planning 
consent was granted by An Bord Pleanála in 2007, the license was granted 
by the EPA in 2008.  

 The issues raised by Mr. McCarthy were considered by both ABP and the 
EPA and they issued their decisions. 

 The condition displayed in Mr McCarthy’s presentation was not part of the 
license. 

 The EPA has a specific guideline on how a sample dataset is interpereted 
into an annual dataset and it is not on a prorata basis as per Mr. McCarthy’s 
presentation 

 The EPA, the relevant competent body, produced a report for the period 
2009 – 2012. In terms of exceedances Mr. McCarthy’s presentation and the 
EPA report do not tally. He questioned how Mr. McCarthy’s data and the 
EPA’s data are different given it is the Competent Authority. 

Page 3



  
Page 4 

 
  

In response Mr McCarthy stated 
 

 It was a suggested condition by the Chairperson of the oral hearing but it 
was not included by the EPA and it was referred to the local Authority for 
ongoing evaluation. 

 It does not discount the scientific fact that Air Quality was in breach of the 
standard 

 2009 – 2012 report, the EPA’s interpretation of their data is flawed as they 
gave the original data which was analysed by Mr. McCarthy & partner and 
the exceedances have been identified.  

 The EPA is expert but can get it wrong at times. 

 The technical detail presented by DCC’s experts to An Bord Pleanála was 
accepted prima facie and analysis is not undertaken by the Bord. When the 
detail was examined (Mr. McCarthy &partner) enormous flaws were found 
in the CO2 calculation for the incinerator and the air quality 

 His opinion is based on objective facts. 

 He would welcome the opportunity to have the debate with the EPA as to 
why the report is wrong? 

 The fact that planning permission and a license were issued does not bury all 
the scientific question that remain 

              
               Mr. Martin Fitzpatrick, Principal Environmental Health Officer responded 
 

 There needs to be and there is a scientific benchmark which is published by 
DEFRA on how to determine an exceedance. It is not clear if this benchmark 
was applied in this case but it should be used to avoid any ambiguity. 

 There was a suggestion that the PM10 levels were averaged out over a day. 
Under the EU directive you must report a daily average, not doing so will 
prohibit evaluation against the Air Quality Standards that are contained in 
the directive. 
 

Mr. James Nolan, Executive Engineer stated 
 

 Mr. McCarthy did say that he took the highest value on the day and it was 
therefore not an average 

 The data (Mr. McCarthy’s presentation)shows that there is a considerable 
number of exceedances but Mr. Fitzpatrick pointed out that the average 
scientific data is the key to understanding if exceedances exist or not. 

 
Mr. McCarthy responded 
 

 The monitoring equipment is continuous, giving 24 readings per day. 

 If the value is over the standard then it is an exceedance 

 He did not average, he took the value in the day and if the value is in excess 
of 50 then it is an exceedance. 

 In excess of 35 exceedances constitute a breach of the EU standard which 
has occurred twice. 

 The area is polluted and additional monitoring stations are required and 
suggested 3 are required, Clontarf, Poolbeg and at the Merrion end. 

 

 

Page 4



  
Page 5 

 
  

Order: The Chair wants the Committee to come to a common agreement on what    
             standards apply looking at the Air Quality issue into the future. Interpretations  
             have to be clarified and the Committee can agree (the interpretations) once the  
             science behind the standards is under stood 
 

6. Air Quality Presentation (Presentation Attached) 

Members thanked Mr. Fitzpatrick for his presentation on Air Quality and raised the 
following questions. 
 

 How is it determined where monitoring stations are sited 

 Can the equipment be moved to areas where there are reports of air quality 
problems. 

 What is the relationship between the EPA and the City Council’s Air Quality 
Monitoring Unit. 

 Why is there a monitoring station in St. Anne’s Park and Marino 

 The nearest monitoring station to Poolbeg is 4kms away in Winetavern 
Street is this self evident that this is inadequate. 

 Is there anything to prevent DCC monitoring Air Quality to the World Health 
Organisation Standard. 

 Has the CAFÉ directive changed. 

 Mr. Fitzpatrick’s opinion of Mr. McCarthy’s presentation 

 Are measurements Real time. 

 Are mobile monitors available 
 

       Mr Fitzpatrick responded  
 

 Our data and National data is being compared to WHO standard. 

 Monitoring stations must have a classification in terms of what type of site it 
is. St Anne’s is a useful benchmark in determining what is the City  
background level  as there are not any immediate sources of pollution. 

 The CAFE directive is superseded by The Clean Air Package, there is an issue 
across all member states in terms of compliance. 

 The criteria for siting the monitoring stations are covered by 2011 Air Quality 
Standards. Stations cannot be sited arbitrarily 

 There has been a degree of monitoring in the Ringsend Area 

 He is working with EPA to determine if there are gaps in the monitoring 
network. 

 There is a range of activities for which the EPA issue licenses and a lower 
level that are issued by DCC e.g. dry cleaners & spray painters 

 The EPA is the National Competent Authority and our data is given to the 
EPA. It is a collaborative approach. 

 Gases are monitored continuously. Particulate are both continuous and filter 
averages. 

 Monitoring Machines are not mobile. 

 Against the idea of moving existing monitoring stations 

 The public consultation period will  
                    

Order: Presentation Noted. A round table discussion of the Committee is to be held to  
             during the public consultation period to agree the standards and measurements. 
 
 

Page 5



  
Page 6 

 
  

7. Draft Dublin City Council Litter Management Plan 2016 – 2018. 
 
Members raised the following concerns / points. 
 

 Cigarette Litter at Public Houses & Restaurants. 

 The serious problem of Dog Fouling. 

 The problems associated with needles. 

 Laneways being used as public toilets. 

 Plan not very specific on targets. 

 Staffing Resources. 

 Frequency that litter bins are emptied. 

 Employment of Dog Wardens and linking dog chipping to fines. 

 Exempt Senior Citizens from Bulky Household Waste Charge. 

 Enforcement will dictate the success of the plan. 
 

Order: Recommend to Council that the Plan go to Public Consultation. 
 
8. Dublin Waste to Energy updates report.  

A query was raised on the technique / technology used in the brief PM 10 monitoring 
campaign and the Executive Engineer is to revert to members of the Committee with 
a reply. 
 

Order: Report Noted 

9. Draft Transparency Code – Regulation of Lobbying Act 2015  
 
The Director of Traffic advised that the SPC can be classified as exempt if a number of 
requirements are fulfilled to include 
 

 Agenda and Minutes of Meetings to be placed on the Website 

 Names & Addresses of all members 

 Clarification if Sectoral  members are employed by Public Sector bodies 
 

Order: Report Noted 

10. Meeting Dates 2016 

Order: Agreed 

11. Motion referred from the North West Area Committee  

“That the Manager arranges for a full review of litter bins in the Northwest Area. Can the 
Manager arrange for bins which were removed in recent times to be replaced. There is an 
large amount of dog dirt being bagged and dropped around the place which might be 
avoided if bins were in place to put the bags into.” 
       
Order: Motion Agreed 
 

12. A.O.B. 

 Matters Arising to be a standing item on the Agenda (after minutes) 

Page 6



  
Page 7 

 
  

 Chair to write to Community Gain Committee seeking minutes of its meetings, 
update on progress and terms of reference. 

 Report to main Council in relation to the Dublin Waste to Energy Project to 
cover the areas of air quality, the community gain fund, source of waste & the 
community gain committee proceedings. 
 

The Director of Traffic advised that the Community Gain Fund Committee will report to the 
South East Area Committee and not the SPC 
 
Order: Noted  
   
 
Attendance 
Members 
 
Councillor Naoise Ó Muirí (Chairperson) 
Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Councillor Claire Byrne 
Councillor Andrew Keegan 
Councillor Denise Mitchell 
Councillor Ciaran O’Moore 
Councillor Michael O’Brien 
Councillor Bríd Smith 
Councillor Cieran Perry 
Robert Moss - Dublin City Community Forum 
Joe McCarthy - An Taisce 
William Brennan – Dublin Community Growers 
 
Apologies 
Nicholas Cloake - Dublin Docklands Business Forum 
Councillor Catherine Ardagh 
 
Absent 
Councillor Declan Flanagan 
Louise McCann - Disability Federation of Ireland 
 
Officials 
 
Declan Wallace, Director of Traffic 
Helen McNamara, Senior Executive Officer 
Brian Hanney, Senior Executive Officer 
Esther Hickey, Administrative Officer 
Martin Fitzpatrick, Principal Environmental Health Officer 
James Nolan, Executive Engineer 
Ciarán McGoldrick, Staff Officer 
Ian Boggans, Assistant Staff Officer 
 
 
Councillor Naoise Ó Muirí  
Chairperson, 27th November 2015 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



1
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Dublin City Council
Environment SPC

Air Quality
Poolbeg & Docklands

Joe McCarthy

November 2015

P
age 15



2
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Air Quality

▪ Approach
• analyse
• research 
• critique

▪ Actual Measurements
• PM10 readings

▪ EPA Waste Licence
• Findings at hearing
• Board decision

P
age 16



9
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Air Quality - Standards

▪ Standards
– Irish Regulations SI 180 of 2011 

• PM10 - 35 exceedences pa

– WHO Air Quality Guidance
• Published 2006

» Fact sheet N°313 - Updated March 2014

• PM10 – 3 exceedences
• PM2.5 – 3 exceedences

P
age 17



3
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Statements by DCC in WWTW EIS

▪ Air Quality and Odour
• 13.3.4 on p333 – Baseline Ambient Air Quality

The Peninsula and surrounding areas have also been subject to air quality monitoring for the period

2003 – 2007 as part of the baseline data gathering exercise for the Waste to Energy EIS. The most

recent data was presented at the oral hearing for the waste licence application in April 2008. Dr. Brian

Broderick’s report for An Bord Pleanála regarding the Dublin Waste to Energy Air Quality and Climate

section of the EIS stated that the extent of sampling was sufficient to assess the temporal and spatial

variation in ground level concentrations in the vicinity of the WwTW, and to compare existing air

quality with limit values.”

Further air quality assessments were subsequently carried out for the Poolbeg Planning Scheme. No

further ambient air monitoring has been carried out as part of this assessment of the receiving

environment as the existing information is considered sufficient for the purposes of this assessment

which relates to the temporary impacts due to an increase in traffic during the construction period.

From report page 3 
para 4.2

P
age 18



4
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Incinerator EIS 

▪ Dr Broderick’s report 

▪ p5    4.3
• In fact, the PM10 survey is comprehensive and 

shows clearly that the limit value is exceeded.

P
age 19



5
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

▪ Dr Broderick’s report 

▪ p8     5.4
• In particular, the mean measured PM10 concentration should not have been 

used to define the background concentration of this pollutant when the 
highest 24-hour average concentrations are being considered. This has led 
to the erroneous prediction that fewer exceedances of the 24-hour limit 
value would occur when the WtE facility is in operation than were identified 
in the baseline survey.

▪ p21   7.28
• These values indicate that PM10 emissions from the proposed WtE facility 

may have a significant adverse impact on air quality. 

▪ p22   7.30
• The effect of PM10 emissions from the proposed WtE facility should be 

considered to be significant.

Incinerator EIS 

P
age 20



6
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

▪ Dr Broderick’s report 

▪ p32   11.4
• In the case of PM10 and NOx, the AERMOD modelling results presented in 

the EIS suggest that during operation of the proposed WtE facility, 
concentrations of these pollutants will be below their limit values. These 
results disagree with the results of the baseline survey and are 
attributable to the manner in which the background concentrations of these 
pollutants were defined. For both pollutants, the background 
concentrations, which are added to the AERMOD output to calculate the 
expected total ambient concentrations, have been underestimated. More 
appropriate definitions would have lead to modelled concentrations that 
exceed their limit values at some locations.

Incinerator EIS 

P
age 21



7
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

PM10 Measurements

▪ Baseline Data

▪ Dr Porter extrapolations
• Statistical manipulation

▪ Corrected analysis
• Report all data points
• Show exceedences
• Compare with current standard
• Compare with WHO guidelines

P
age 22



8
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

AQ Baselines

▪ AWN Porter Baselines
• Cycle Way
• Baseline
• EIS
• ABP Oral Hearing
• EPA Oral Hearing

▪ 2010 – 2011 EPA Measurements

P
age 23



EP/08/4030AR01  AWN Consulting Limited 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
Dublin Waste To Energy Proof of Evidence (Air Quality) Page 20 of 28 
 

PM10 Baseline Levels 
 
In relation to background levels of PM10, the trend in the data over the last 2-3 years 
indicates a gradual decrease in annual average data as shown in Figure 6.4 from a 
level approaching 36 µg/m3 in 2004 to approximately 30 µg/m3 in 2007.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The UK DEFRA publication “Local Air Quality Management” (LAQM.TG(03))(3) 
outlines the approach for extrapolating from the current year to the year of opening of 
the facility (2012).  The emission factor tool incorporates the predicted reductions in 
PM10 concentrations in future years.  Levels in 2012 using the emission factor tool 
are predicted to reduce to 28.9 µg/m3 as an annual average (including cumulative 
impacts and additional traffic due to the scheme) (as shown in Figure 6.4).  In order 
to extrapolate from the annual mean to the number of exceedences of the 50 µg/m3 
24-hour limit value, the UK LAQM.TG03 has derived an empirical relationship 
between the number of 24-hour exceedences of 50 µg/m3 and the annual mean 
concentration (which is derived from the UK Automatic Network sites over the period 
1997 - 2001).  The formula is(3): 
 
 Y = -18.5 + 0.00145x annual mean3 + 206/annual mean 
 
 Y = -18.5 + 0.00145x (28.9)3 + 206/(28.9) 
 

Y = 24 exceedences of the 50 µg/m3 limit value (35 exceedences are allowable in any one 
year) 

 

Page 24



EIS for Poolbeg Incinerator

JPMcC & VJ November 2015

Poolbeg EIS
Averaged PM10 readings

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Jan
05

Apr
05

Jul
05

Oct
05

Jan
06

Apr
06

Jul
06

Oct
06

Jan
07

Apr
07

Jul
07

Oct
07

µg
/m

3

Averages presented in EPA brief of
evidence

P
age 25



EIS for Poolbeg Incinerator

JPMcC & VJ November 2015

Poolbeg EIS
Averaged PM10 readings

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Jan
05

Apr
05

Jul
05

Oct
05

Jan
06

Apr
06

Jul
06

Oct
06

Jan
07

Apr
07

Jul
07

Oct
07

µg
/m

3

Averages presented in EPA brief of evidence
Actual Readings without averaging

P
age 26



10
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

PM10 Measurements

▪ Decision by EPA
• Extracts from hearing
• Board decision

▪ Graphs from DCC analysis

P
age 27



Report on Oral Hearing Register No. W0232-01 – Main Report 

 

 

 

Report on the 

Objections and Oral Hearing 
on the  

Proposed decision of a Waste licence  
for 

Dublin City Council. 
 

Register No. W0232-01 
 

 

 

Main Report 

 

 

 

Report by: Ms. Marie O’Connor 

                                           Assisted by: Ms Ann Marie Donlon 

 

03rd September 2008 

Page 28



Register No. W0232-01 Oral Hearing Report - Main Report 

10. Amend Condition 3.10.2 to read as follows: 

3.10.2 Implementation of an odour and fugitive dust management system to include periods 

when process lines and/or induced draft fans are not operational. 

11. Reword Condition 3.13.1 to read as follows: 

3.13.1 Effective surface water management infrastructure shall be provided and maintained 
at the facility. 

12. Delete Condition 3.13.2  

13. Reword Condition 3.14.2 to read as follows: 

3.14.2 The licensee shall install and maintain silt traps and oil separators at the facility to 
ensure that all storm water discharges (other than roof rain water) from the facility 
pass through a silt trap and oil separator prior to discharge. The separator shall be a 
Class I full retention separator and the silt traps and separator shall be in accordance 
with I.S. EN 585-2:2003 (separator systems for light liquids).  

14. Reword Condition 3.15.2 to read as follows: 
3.15.2 Incinerator residues destined for ships within the Dublin Port Area may be removed 

from the facility at any time. Otherwise waste may be removed from the facility only 
between the hours of 0800 hrs to 1830hrs Monday to Friday inclusive and 0800 hrs to 
1400 hrs on Saturdays.   

15. Insert Condition 3.16.3 to read as follows: 
3.16.3 Prior to the commencement of the waste activity, the licensee shall submit an updated 

report on air quality in the vicinity of the site and the predicted impact of the 
development with particular reference to the air quality standards specified in S.I. 
271 of 2002 or those pertaining at the proposed date of commencement of the waste 
activity. The report shall, as a minimum, 

(a) include ambient air quality monitoring at the locations specified in 
the application (or otherwise agreed with the Agency) for at least 
three years prior to the commencement of the waste activity,  

(b) provide a comparison of the actual measurements from (a) above 
with the predictions for air quality post 2012 as outlined in Section 
8 of the EIS, and  

(c) update the impact assessment of the development having regard to 
the measurements from (a) above.  

The licensee shall not commence the waste activity at the facility until it has received 
the prior written agreement of the Agency with the Air Quality report.   

16. Reword Condition 3.18.8 to read as follows: 
3.18.8 Each process line of the incineration plant shall have and operate an automatic 

system to prevent waste feed to that line: 

(a) At start-up, until the temperature of 850oC has been reached; 

(b) Whenever the temperature of 850oC is not maintained; 

(c) Whenever the continuous measurements show that any emission limit value 

is exceeded due to disturbances of the purification devices; and 

Page 76   Page 29

Joe
Polygon



PM10 readings 2001 to 2011

Day 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2009 2010 2011
1 22 29 36
2 29 20
3 31 24 23
4 26 22
5 32 18 26 14
6 11 29 32
7 23 17 33 42
8 35 77 32
9 24 37 83 13
10 22 24 34 13
11 22 26 25 29 15
12 20 54 20 40 11
13 27 12 22 40 16
14 17 26 50 54 18
15 21 15 23 39 15
16 36 12 29 22 19
17 23 12 27 28
18 12 13 38 29
19 19 10 43 60
20 63 28 33 98
21 33 13 41 72
22 35 18 23 63
23 34 36 38 43
24 7 30 30
25 42 58 21
26 21 43 48 71 23
27 20 62 25 0 27
28 52 46 29 36
29 31 37 11 26 35
30 9 11 75 11 20 33
31 14 33 50 16 23 73
32 30 51 61 62 22 60
33 15 45 72 20 24
34 11 42 69 25 14
35 37 26 54 31 15
36 42 22 69 35 14
37 16 52 35 41 13
38 22 47 29 44 12
39 44 58 49 44 13
40 36 82 93 41 16
41 61 42 25 39 25
42 56 21 15 38 24
43 70 25 22 44 21
44 70 44 34 45 18
45 63 87 30 34 22
46 91 41 29 18
47 45 74 28 17
48 39 92 47 27
49 37 55 54 43
50 18 43 55 40
51 22 33 27 22
52 72 26 26
53 4 61 37
54 27 47 65 29
55 31 46 54 33
56 40 22 32 30
57 45 38 26 17
58 45 21 4 35 16
59 9 46 38 18 36 37
60 23 30 49 33 31 43
61 65 60 23 0
62 42 21 66
63 75 13 45 75
64 38 37 43 73
65 49 12 59 48
66 47 13 51 34
67 42 30 83 66
68 39 35 34 99
69 28 29 35 98
70 27 54 74
71 10 82 56
72 33 33
73 34 73 22
74 70 49 35
75 57 36 67
76 79 43 57
77 31 25 31
78 54 29 41
79 43 31 41
80 2 40 39
81 99 28
82 29 25 53
83 22 18 2 58
84 44 23 3 70
85 37 23 19 66
86 79 20 36 69
87 101 61 193 40
88 79 39 255 42
89 5 38 809 33
90 19 16
91 48 19
92 50 29 168 29
93 32 42 186 35
94 30 46 22
95 15 19 19
96 22 27 21
97 31 15 20
98 19 16 36
99 13 19 60
100 32 17 55
101 27 28 0 65
102 24 16 64
103 20 16 56
104 16 14 54
105 10 17 50
106 17 17 52
107 33 30 58
108 26 32 54
109 28 26 40
110 36 40
111 32 35 48
112 22 16 61
113 26 16 71
114 15 19 89
115 27 18 85
116 42 21 33
117 48 13 45
118 29 18 43
119 26 19 27
120 7 18 23
121 14 19 22
122 25 19 24
123 38 11 17 22
124 24 25 10 24
125 27 13 30
126 14 29
127 15 26
128 14 35
129 13 32
130 15 27
131 35 27
132 36 26
133 35
134 26
135 28
136 27
137 28
138 10 38
139 13 32
140 13 43
141 10 31
142 15 45
143 16 51
144 12 47
145 27 40
146 26 35
147 12 30
148 14 23
149 22 23
150 20 20
151 21 31
152 19 31
153 25 41
154 25 47
155 23 59
156 25 57
157 19 32
158 14 22
159 20 24
160 20 36
161 18 42
162 0 36
163 0 29
164 0 31
165 16 28
166 21 22 33
167 12 25 35
168 27 21 36
169 43 14 32
170 26 15 38
171 24 15 31
172 52 13 44
173 16 16 48
174 30 21 50
175 11 23 25
176 26 29 38
177 26 30 37
178 27 27 35
179 23 21 34
180 19 23 29
181 15 24 53
182 18 24 50
183 18 22 23
184 16 15 25
185 23 15 30
186 24 14 34
187 16 12 22
188 10 13 27
189 13 14 29
190 27 12 16
191 15 16
192 14 14
193 12 11 28

Over 50 μg/m3

Over 35 μg/m3

Over 25 μg/m3

JPMcC & VJ November 2015

Page 30



PM10 readings 2001 to 2011

Day 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2009 2010 2011
194 14 15 36
195 24 17 35
196 77 27 17 38
197 31 26 15 22
198 38 40 15 22
199 35 36 11 21
200 21 9 14
201 30 10 29
202 36 11 30
203 26 11 24
204 50 24 14 33
205 29 52 13 33
206 20 13 3
207 20 12
208 26 13
209 21 12
210 36 12
211 52 13
212 41 11
213 29 10
214 21 13
215 20 11
216 56 8
217 63 0
218 51 17
219 43 17
220 55 14
221 21 11
222 32 15 10
223 36 10 13
224 29 8 12
225 35
226 42 5
227 26 34
228 33 43
229 29 41
230 30 11
231 29 7
232 32 21
233 18 38
234 26 28
235 19 28 24
236 51 22
237 18 26
238 27 13 27
239 22 24
240 25 29 25
241 24 23 23
242 12 44 45 11 23
243 18 28 13 16
244 27 21 8 11 13
245 30 6 27 15
246 45 39 39 19 15
247 40 33 12
248 14 40 18 41 14
249 26 27 48 14
250 27 21 28 27 16 20
251 14 14 17 23
252 19 24 32 35 19 25
253 13 23 42 24 17
254 39 38 18 45 28 11
255 23 15 48 28 17
256 15 21 39 38 21 18
257 51 37 33 20 15
258 52 23 41 16 20 20
259 46 14 12 29 19 17
260 25 8 20 33 23 15
261 21 23 39 24 22 16
262 30 35 16 45 22 12
263 22 23 36 35 15 18
264 14 18 19 34 16 21
265 23 22 22 13 17 20
266 31 27 31 19 14 14
267 37 8 41 37 15 15
268 27 24 51 41 16 16
269 24 26 18 33 15 13
270 13 26 55 30 14 18
271 27 25 56 17 13 18
272 22 24 18 22 13 16
273 13 8 47 13 13
274 22 33 24 13 12
275 52 31 30 14 8
276 41 38 45 14 5
277 39 13 55 13 11
278 37 26 65 18 13
279 28 39 19 12
280 14 41 15 22
281 14 41 19 37
282 16 36 23 54
283 10 16 55
284 25 13 35
285 43 21 36
286 48 24 35
287 34 23 29
288 54 23 18
289 54 17 10
290 45 67 20 15
291 18 57 19 6
292 38 38 16 5
293 17 31 25 5
294 25 33 22 6
295 12 54 18 11
296 31 97 17 11
297 17 15 20
298 25 13 34
299 35 26 11 24
300 34 10 15 15
301 15 14 15 15
302 14 29 14 13
303 22 27 14 14
304 43 35 34 14 32
305 25 25 50 15 50
306 20 12 23 9 30
307 16 52 24 9 17
308 23 23 37 9 16
309 16 14 9 19
310 10 7 9 19
311 16 35 9 12
312 32 39 39 11 18
313 22 34 24 23 24
314 17 28 18 21 21
315 12 21 37 15 18
316 32 24 39 13 23
317 28 10 22 19 18
318 25 47 58 20 20
319 34 47 74 12 43
320 34 94 28 12 21
321 25 26 17 8 26
322 26 101 22 10 24
323 21 126 30 9 25
324 18 84 98 41 9 26
325 32 100 43 32 23
326 37 25 71 28 23
327 12 29 23 24
328 13 39 11 23 21
329 22 16 22 18
330 21 32 15 22 18
331 22 23 22 19
332 24 6 28 37 37
333 15 34 36 52
334 12 33 13 31 42
335 13 30 38 18
336 9 43 21 35 18
337 17 10 36 20
338 22 63 19 26 22
339 52 23 23
340 25 20 18 24 30
341 78 36 23 33
342 60 28 13 26 21
343 52 26 31 21
344 70 61 24 30 18
345 96 61 33 19
346 45 8 51 32 33
347 61 23 46 31
348 61 148 28 46 33
349 25 40 33 28
350 38 65 42 23 20
351 40 20 23 13
352 32 49 65 29 16
353 29 50
354 8 19 49
355 17 41
356 9 25 37
357 31 36
358 10 36 31
359 40 77
360 7 34 99
361 19 24
362 41 46 18
363 42 19
364 14 29 26
365 31 33

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2009 2010 2011
Exceedences

Over 50 μg 7 4 14 7 26 18 19 5 50 6
Over 35 μg 12 6 31 13 73 52 51 21 113 15

Readings 49 13 89 38 188 143 139 266 323 61

365 More than 35 exceedences per annum is a breach of the EU standard
Prorata 52 112 57 67 50 46 50 7 57 36

JPMcC & VJ November 2015

Page 31



JPMcC & VJ November 2015

PM10 Readings - 10 Year Plot - 2001 to 2011

0

50

100

150

0 30 60 90 120 150 180 210 240 270 300 330 360

Day

μg
/m

3

Actual  1,309 Readings
                156 exceedences

Prorata    535 exceedences

P
age 32



12
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Summary AQ Breaches

Yes38.8181692011
Yes39.8181652010

EPA Sean Moore Road *
Yes49.9191392007
Yes46.3181422006
Yes15850.7261872005
Yes3369.17372004
Yes>3358.114882003
Yes>331212002
Yes53.22001

paProrata paProrata paExceedencesReadings

BreachPort TunnelS2S ProjectIncinerator EIS
Sean Moore Road

* Estimated from graphs displayed on EPA web site 

P
age 33



11
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Topics

▪ Air Quality
• PM 10 exceedences
• Irish standard breached
• Collect all references

▪ Errors
• One might be misfortunate
• Two might be careless
• Six look interesting
• All one sided

▪ Policy
• ABP handed question to EPA
• No QA or checking
• Who acts as devils advocate?

P
age 34



PM10 Readings in Poolbeg

JPMcC & VJ November 2015

Exceedences per annum
2001 to 2011

0

35

70

105

140

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2009 2010 2011
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Exceedences
Readings pa

EU Standard

WHO Standard

P
age 35



13
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Merry-go-round

▪ ABP
▪ Hearing
▪ Report
▪ Board

▪ EPA
▪ Hearing
▪ Report
▪ Board

▪ DCC

▪ DCC
• Consultants

P
age 36



14
Copyright © Joe McCarthy 2015 November 2015

Conclusion

▪ Air quality already compromised in Poolbeg

▪ Continuous monitoring is necessary to 
safeguard our health

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Martin Fitzpatrick

Principal Environmental Health Officer

Air Quality Monitoring and Noise Control Unit 

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

P
age 39



Air Quality Monitoring and Noise Control UnitAir Quality Monitoring and Noise Control Unit

Key Elements 

•Air Quality Monitoring 

•Enforcement of Air and Noise legislation 

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

•Enforcement of Air and Noise legislation 

•Research 

•Expertise

P
age 40



Dublin City Council established an  air quality monitoring network in 1973 
The Unit holds ISO 9001accreditation since  2002 

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

P
age 41



Air Quality Monitoring and Noise Control Unit 
Annual Report 2014

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

2014 Annual Reports 

P
age 42



EPA - Ireland's air quality in 2014
Main findings

•Air monitoring data from 33 stations in the National Ambient Air Quality Monitoring 
Network

•Air monitoring data compared to the much more stringent WHO guideline values and 
EEA estimated reference level

•No levels above the EU limit value were recorded at any of the ambient air quality 
network monitoring sites in Ireland in 2014

•WHO guideline values were exceeded as follows:•WHO guideline values were exceeded as follows:
• Ozone at 8 monitoring sites
• Particulate Matter PM10 at 2 monitoring sites
• Particulate Matter PM2.5 at 2 monitoring sites

•EEA reference levels were exceeded as follows
• PAH at 4 monitoring sites

•Irelands air quality relative to our European counterparts is of good quality

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

P
age 43



Dublin City Council Air Quality Monitoring locations 

Multi-pollutant sites
Winetavern Street – PM10, NO2, CO, SO2

Coleraine Street – PM2.5, NO2, CO, SO2

Dun Laoghaire – PM10, NO2

Blanchardstown - PM10, NO2

Old Bawn - PM10, SO2

PM10 only sites
Phoenix Park
Rathmines
St Anne’s Park
Ballyfermot
Davitt Road

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

Davitt Road

PM2.5 only sites

Marino
Finglas

P
age 44



NO2 results for Dublin 2014

Site Annual mean
(g/m3)

No. of times NO2 hourly
level >200g/m3

Winetavern St 31 0
Coleraine Street 25 0
Ballyfermot 16 0
St. Anne’s Park 12 0
Dun Laoghaire 16 0
Blanchardstown 28 2

Dublin City Results 2014

Nitrogen dioxide

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

Averaging period Limit Value
Hourly limit value for the
protection of human health 1 hour

200g/m3 not to be
exceeded more than 18
times in a calendar year

Annual limit value for the
protection of human health Calendar year 40g/m3

P
age 45



PM10 results for Dublin 2014

Site 2014 Annual Mean No. of days >50g/m3

Limit value for PM10
Averaging period Limit value

24 hour limit value for
the protection of human
health

24 hours
50g/m3 not to be
exceeded more than
35 times in a calendar
year

Dublin City Results 2014

Particulates PM10

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

Site 2014 Annual Mean 
g/m3

No. of days >50g/m3

Phoenix Park 12 0
Rathmines 14 3
Winetavern Street 14 1
Ballyfermot 11 2
Davitt Road 13 1
St Anne’s Park, Raheny 17 1
Dun Laoghaire 14 2
Old Bawn 15 2
Blanchardstown 18 5

P
age 46



Target value for PM2.5
Averaging period Target value

Annual target value for
the protection of human
health

Calendar year 25g/m3

Annual limit value for
the protection of human
health

Calendar year 40g/m3

PM2.5 results for Dublin City 2014

Dublin City Results 2014

Particulates PM2.5

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

PM2.5 results for Dublin City 2014

Site Annual mean (g/m3)

Marino 8

Coleraine St 9
Finglas* 7

P
age 47



Current developments

28 September 2015 announcements by Minister

National ban on bituminous coal 

Review of national air quality management

Review of Air Pollution Act 1987

Public consultation on air quality 

Air Quality Monitoring Dublin City

Public consultation on air quality 

EPA review of national air quality network

 Indicative monitoring campaign  

Time scale for above

P
age 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 
 
WILDFOWL MONITORING  
WINTER 2014 / 15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SEPTEMBER 2015 
 
REPORT PREPARED FOR  
DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY LIMITED 
ELEANOR MAYES 
ECOLOGICAL CONSULTANT 
 
Old Post Office, 
Ashford, 
Co. Wicklow 
Tel 0404 40272  

Page 121



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
1 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION. .........................................................................................................................2 

2. MONITORING METHODOLOGY. ................................................................................................3 

3. CONSTRUCTION AND OTHER ACTIVITIES AFFECTING GRASSLANDS IN THE AREA. ......4 

3.1. Compensatory grassland management. ...........................................................................4 
3.2. Other activities in the compensatory grassland. ...............................................................5 
3.3. Dublin Waste to Energy Facility activities. ........................................................................5 
3.4. Other grasslands in the Ringsend area. ...........................................................................5 
 

4. WILDFOWL COUNTS. .................................................................................................................6 
4.1. Light-bellied Brent Geese. .................................................................................................6 
4.1.1 Overall population and numbers in Dublin Bay ..............................................................6 
4.1.2. South Dublin Bay and monitored grasslands.................................................................7 
4.2. Other waterbird species. ................................................................................................. 10 

 

5. GOOSE USE OF GRASSLANDS ............................................................................................. 12 

5.1. Grazing intensity on individual transects ...................................................................... 14 
 

6. SUMMARY OF WATERBIRD USE OF THE COMPENSATORY GRASSLAND. ..................... 16 

 

7. REFERENCES .......................................................................................................................... 16 

 
 

 

 

Page 122



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
2 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

1. INTRODUCTION. 
 
Planning approval for the Dublin Waste to Energy Facility was granted by An Bord Pleanála in 
November 2007, subject to a number of conditions. This report has been prepared in compliance 
with Condition 13 (b), which includes a requirement for waterfowl monitoring as follows: 
 
“Monitoring of the use by wild fowl of the grass lands located south of the wastewater treatment 
plant shall be carried out for a period of at least 1 year prior to the enclosure and use of the 
temporary construction area, during construction works and for a period of at least three years 
following the commissioning of the plant. Reports on the monitoring shall be prepared at least twice 
yearly following the commencement of construction works.  Copies of the reports shall be available 
for inspection by the public at the offices of the local authority and at an office in the 
Ringsend/Poolbeg area.” 
 
The grassland area referred to in Condition 13 (b) was provided as a winter feeding area for Light-
bellied Brent Geese Branta bernicla hrota, under condition No. 10 of the 1997 certification for the 
Dublin Bay Project extension to Ringsend Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP). It lies to the east 
of the temporary construction compound for the Dublin Waste to Energy Facility, to the south of 
Ringsend WWTP, and to the north of Irishtown Nature Park. The area is shown in Figure 1 below, 
and is known variously as Goose Green, the DCC Brent Field Ringsend (Benson, 2009), and as 
the compensatory grassland. This report presents the results of the waterfowl monitoring carried 
out between September 2014 and April 2015, covering the winter season during which Brent Geese 
in particular use the grassland area referred to in Condition 13 (b), and in order to comply with the 
requirement to prepare reports at least twice yearly following the commencement of construction 
works. 

 

 

 
Figure 1. Location of the ‘compensatory grassland’ to the south 
of Ringsend WWTP, and to the east of the temporary 
construction compound for the Dublin Waste to Energy Facility. 
Irishtown Nature Park lies to the south of the grassland. 

Page 123



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
3 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

 
The National Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS) of the Department of Arts, Heritage and the 
Gaeltacht proposed to extend the boundary of a Special Protection Area (SPA) designated under 
the Birds Directive (79/409/EEC; 2009/147/EC) to include this grassland, in a notification dated 23 
May 2008 relating to South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA (Site Code 004024). The 
extended boundary was confirmed in S.I. 212 of 2010.  

 
 
 

2. MONITORING METHODOLOGY. 
 
Detailed wildfowl counts, and counts of goose droppings which provide a metric of goose grazing 
intensity, were scheduled to cover the period when Light-bellied Brent Geese feed on grassland, 
because this is the species which makes most seasonal use of grassland areas, and the grassland 
referred to in Condition 13 (b) was provided specifically for geese. The detailed monitoring season 
was initially defined as extending from mid-November to mid-April, based on observations during 
the 1990s and early to mid 2000s. Checks of the grassland for waterbird1 use are carried out during 
the summer and autumn also, with checks of intertidal areas to assess autumn arrival of Light-
bellied Brent Geese in Dublin Bay.  
 
Following the completion of winter monitoring in April 2014, the compensatory grassland was 
checked for the presence of wildfowl and waterbirds during the summer and autumn. Checks of 
intertidal areas in South Dublin Bay for Light-bellied Brent Geese commenced on 19th August 2014 
and continued at approximately weekly intervals. 
 
The compensatory grassland was walked on 26th September, 8th, 14th and 23rd October, and on 6th 
and 17th of November 2014 to check for goose feeding signs (droppings); none were recorded. 
Light-bellied Brent Geese started to visit the compensatory grassland in small numbers from 20th 
November 2014. Direct waterbird counts and transect counts of goose droppings on all monitored 
grasslands (compensatory grassland, Ringsend Park, Irishtown Stadium, and Sean Moore Park) 
started on 26th November for the 2014/15 winter season.  
 
Waterfowl were counted from vantage points using binoculars and a telescope. In addition to the 
grassland located south of the wastewater treatment plant and adjoining the DWTE site and 
temporary construction compound, the following grassland areas were included in the monitoring 
programme: Ringsend Park, Irishtown Stadium, and Sean Moore Park. The rationale for including 
the three additional grassland areas is that they are also used by Brent geese, and there is frequent 
movement of geese between all four grassland areas arising from disturbance due to sports and 
recreational use as well as construction work in different areas. It would be difficult to interpret 
counts from the compensatory grassland on its own, since variation in use could arise from factors 
other than DWTE construction disturbance, and it would be useful for these to be identifiable. The 
amenity grassland area beside the Ringsend Waste Water Treatment Works storm water tanks (on 
the northern side of Pigeon House Road) have been checked for the presence of Brent geese since 
January 2014.  
 
Goose use of the four grassland areas (the compensatory grassland, Ringsend Park, Irishtown 
Stadium, and Sean Moore Park) was also assessed indirectly by counts of droppings along 
transects, so that grazing intensity could be assessed in the different areas, and with regard to 
distance from the DWTE site and construction compound. In general, counts were scheduled for 

                                                 
1 ‘waterbird’ is a collective term for swans, geese, ducks, wading birds, gulls and terns, and other 
groups that depend on wetland habitats. Some, but not all, of these groups use the grassland 
subject to condition 13(b). 

Page 124



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
4 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

periods of dry weather to minimise washing out of goose droppings by rainfall. Dropping density 
was calculated per metre2 to facilitate comparison between areas. Transects were laid out using 
measurements and landmarks within the compensatory grassland as shown in Figure 2 below. 

 
 
 
 
                                        T1A 
 
                                      T2A                                T1B 
 
            T10       T30    T60                                   T2B                                     T1C                                                                                                                              
                                                                                                           T2C 
 
 

Ordnance Survey Ireland Licence No EN 0048415 
 © Ordnance Survey Ireland/Government of Ireland 

 
Figure 2. Transect layout on the compensatory grassland 
 
Transect 1 lies 10 metres away from the boundary fence between the compensatory grassland and 
Ringsend WWTP. Transect 2 lies parallel to transect 1. Both transects are divided into three 
sections A, B and C, as indicated by circles on Figure 2. The transects are equidistant from the 
mounded inspection access to the submarine pipeline, visible as a white area which is the landmark 
for transect sections A/B. Transect 10 lies 10 metres from the western edge of the compensatory 
grassland, T30 and T60 are 30 and 60 metres from the western edge of the grassland respectively. 
 
Within the other grassland areas monitored, single transects were monitored in each of the eastern 
and western pitches at Sean Moore Park, in Irishtown Stadium, and in Ringsend Park, with transect 
lines along the length of the pitch at 10 metres towards the side from a goal post. 
 
 
 

3.   CONSTRUCTION AND OTHER ACTIVITIES AFFECTING 
GRASSLANDS IN THE AREA. 

 

3.1. Compensatory grassland management. 

 
During the first wildfowl monitoring season for the Dublin Waste to Energy Facility in 2007/08, goose 
use varied substantially between different areas of the compensatory grassland, in response to 
variations in grass cover, and to the proximity of scrub encroaching towards the grassland which 
geese tend to avoid. Disturbance due to human and dog activity within the grassland area was also 
a factor. A management plan addressing these issues was prepared for Dublin City Council, in 
consultation with NPWS, and was implemented in 2008: 
 

1. Soil compaction and sparse grass cover on part of the 2ha area, in the area of transect 
T1C, was addressed by spiking with a verti-drainer, re-seeding grass, and by improving 
soil fertility 

 
2. Scrub encroachment on the sloping ground between the grassland and Irishtown Nature 

Park, and along part of the boundary with Ringsend WWTP, was addressed by cutting 
and removal 

Page 125



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
5 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

 
3. Disturbance by pedestrians, particularly when accompanied by dogs, which has been 

addressed by fencing the eastern end of the grassland and the provision of public 
information notices requesting co-operation. 

 
Some new fencing and signage was installed by Dublin City Council Parks Department, at the top 
of the sloping ground between Irishtown Nature Park and the compensatory grassland during the 
autumn of 2010, with the aim of reducing disturbance by pedestrians and dogs to geese using the 
grassland. Repairs to the fencing at the eastern end of the compensatory grassland were also 
carried out in 2010.  

 
Routine mowing and maintenance work was carried out during the summer and autumn of 2014.  
Top-dressing of the grassland with fertiliser was carried out by Dublin City Council Parks 
Department in October 2014. Grass continued to grow during mild late autumn weather and the 
compensatory grassland was mown in late October and again in early November. Dublin City 
Council Parks Department also carried out repairs to the fencing at the eastern end of the 
compensatory grassland in early November 2014.   
 
 

3.2. Other activities in the compensatory grassland. 

No engineering works were noted in the compensatory grassland during the 2014/15 season. Dog 
walking within the grassland continued to occur. Dog tracks were observed, and a dog walker 
appeared to be bringing up to ten dogs to run on the compensatory grassland on most days, 
approaching from the west, and later from the south after the temporary construction compound 
was enclosed in January 2015.   
 
 

3.3. Dublin Waste to Energy Facility activities. 

Further to a commencement notice issued to Dublin City Council, construction work on the Dublin 
Waste to Energy Facility commenced on 14th December 2009. Work was suspended temporarily 
in May 2010. The Project Agreement regarding the Dublin Waste to Energy Facility was signed on 
Friday 19th September 2014. Site clearance and setup commenced in October. Piling works at the 
approved project site, using Continuous Augered Piles (CFA Piles), commenced during the week 
starting 20th October, initially with one piling rig and subsequently with three rigs. Piling and 
foundation works continued through the winter season. Construction of above ground structures 
commenced in March 2015. The temporary construction compound was enclosed in January 2015, 
with work on the eastern boundary closest to the compensatory grassland taking place during the 
week commencing 12th January. A setback of at least 20 metres wide from the eastern edge of the 
compound was provided, as required under Condition 13(b).  
 
 

3.4. Other grasslands in the Ringsend area. 

The running track at Irishtown Stadium was partially re-surfaced during the summer of 2014, but 
not completed. The running track and pitch were little used during the winter of 2014/15, and no 
measures such as decoys or plastic tapes to deter geese from feeding on the pitch were observed.  
 
 
 

 

  

Page 126



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
6 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

4. WILDFOWL COUNTS. 
 

4.1. Light-bellied Brent Geese. 

4.1.1 Overall population and numbers in Dublin Bay 

A peak count of 1,367 Light-bellied Brent Geese was recorded in South Dublin Bay at dusk on 28th 
January 2015. The threshold for international importance for this predominantly Irish wintering 
population was raised in 2012 (Wetlands International, 2013), following a sustained increase in 
numbers; the 1% level is currently 400 birds (formerly 260 birds). However the population has 
declined recently following two poor breeding seasons in 2013 and 2014; a total of 31,985 geese 
were recorded in the southern part of the wintering range (excluding Iceland) in November 2014 (I-
WeBS News 2015). Peak counts in previous years are given in Table 1.  
 

  
Dublin Bay  
 

South Dublin Bay 

2014/15 I-WeBS data not yet available 1,367 

2013/14 3,717* 1,310 

2012/13 6,134* 2,693* 

2011/12 4,102* 1,950 

2010/11 4,745 1,730 

2009/10 5,536* 1,870 

2008/09 4,445* 1,425* 

2007/08 3,819* 510* 

 

Table 1.   Peak counts of Light-bellied Brent Geese in Dublin Bay and in                         
South Dublin Bay.  

 
 
Figure 3. Peak counts in Dublin Bay and South Dublin Bay 

Note: * Data were supplied by the Irish Wetland Bird Survey (I-WeBS), a joint scheme of BirdWatch Ireland and the National 
Parks and Wildlife Service of the Department of Arts, Heritage & the Gaeltacht. Other counts not indicated with an asterix 
are data recorded as part of the monitoring programme for the Dublin Waste to Energy Facility. The highest count in these 
two datasets is given.  

 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Peak count

Dublin Bay South Dublin Bay

Page 127



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
7 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

4.1.2. South Dublin Bay and monitored grasslands 

Brent Geese were first recorded feeding in intertidal habitats in South Dublin Bay on 20th September 
2014, when 15 birds were observed feeding on the Zostera bed near Merrion Gates. Autumn counts 
are included in Table 2. Peak counts in each winter season since the commencement of the 
monitoring programme are included in Table 3. Most geese were recorded feeding on the Zostera 
bed near Merrion Gates initially, but geese also fed on green macroalgae Enteromorpha spp. 
growing in low tide channels, in sheltered areas to the south of the Poolbeg peninsula, and in the 
developing salt marsh east of Merrion Gates, as Zostera stocks became depleted. There was a 
high standing crop of green macroalgae in intertidal habitats in Dublin Bay during the autumn of 
2014, related to prolonged warm sunny weather.  Brent geese continued to feed on green 
macroalgae in December, with 225 birds feeding to the south of the Poolbeg peninsula on 15th 
December at 8.50 am.  
 
 

 Grasslands 
Intertidal 
sand and 
mudflats 

Date 
Compensatory 

Grassland 

Sean 
Moore 

Park East 

Sean 
Moore 

Park West 

Irishtown 
Stadium 

Ringsend 
Park 

WWTW 
storm 
tanks 

South Dublin 
Bay 

20.09.14       15 

26.09.14       10 

28.09.14       22 

8.10.14       107 

15.10.14       206 

23.10.13       220 

1.11.14       161 

6.11.14       9 

17.11.14       279 

26.11.14 184   71   not counted 

5.12.14 331   17   *481 

15.12.14 2   1  126 **c. 470 

5.01.15 18   66   not counted 

12.01.15 151   11   not counted 

15.01.15 87      **1,316  

28.01.15 147 16 9 180   **1,367  

18.02.15 132   23   *1,125  

6.03.15 158   55   not counted 

19.03.15 69   1   195 

10.04.15 40   89   not counted 

Peak 
Count in 
2014/15 

331 16 9 180   
 

1,367 
 

 

Table 2.   Peak counts of Light-bellied Brent Geese from September 2014 to April 2015.  
Notes: Counts of the intertidal sand and mudflats in South Dublin Bay carried out as part of this monitoring 
programme include *dawn or **dusk roost counts. Dawn and dusk roost counts are generally higher than day 
time counts in mid-winter, when geese are feeding on grassland sites in the greater Dublin area during the day. 
Counts are not additive, because of goose movement between areas.  
Blank cells indicate that no Light-bellied Brent Geese were present when individual sites were checked. 

Page 128



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
8 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

 
 

 Grasslands 
Intertidal 
sand and 
mudflats 

Date 
Compensatory 

Grassland 

Sean 
Moore 

Park East 

Sean 
Moore 

Park West 

Irishtown 
Stadium 

Ringsend 
Park 

WWTW 
storm 
tanks 

South Dublin 
Bay 

2014/15 331 16 9 180  126 
1,367 

roost count 

2013/14 411 225  220 575 67 
1,310 

roost count 

2012/13 351 600 223 47 680 nc 
2,693 

roost count* 

2011/12 336 29 14 346 205 nc 
1,950 

roost count 

2010/11 410 90 101 450 283 nc 
1,730 

roost count 

2009/10 349 950 600 338 480 nc 
1,870 

roost count 

2008/09 440 55 10 199  nc 
1,425* 

 

2007-08 34 600 350 366  nc 
510* 

 

 
Table 3.  Peak counts of Light-bellied Brent Geese in each area, in each year of the 

monitoring programme to date 

*I-WeBS counts. * Data were supplied by the Irish Wetland Bird Survey (I-WeBS), a joint scheme of BirdWatch 
Ireland and the National Parks and Wildlife Service of the Department of Arts, Heritage & the Gaeltacht. Counts 
not indicated with an asterix are data recorded as part of the monitoring programme for the Dublin Waste to 
Energy Facility. The highest count in these two datasets is given.  

 

 
Light-bellied Brent Geese started to visit the compensatory grassland in small numbers from 20th 
November 2014, and were first seen at Irishtown Stadium on 21st November, as reported by staff. 
When surveyed on 26th November (Plate 1), almost all droppings were fresh at both grasslands. 
 
The peak count of Light-bellied Brent Geese on the compensatory grassland was 331, recorded on 
5th December 2014 (Plate 2). The grassland was checked on 11 dates between 26th November 
2014 and 10th April 2015; geese were recorded feeding on the grassland on all dates. Average 
flock size through the winter was 120 geese. Flocks of 151 and 87 were recorded feeding on the 
grassland during the week in January when the eastern end of the temporary construction 
compound was being enclosed.  
 
Peak counts of Light-bellied Brent Geese recorded on other grasslands in the Ringsend area were 
180 on Irishtown Stadium, 16 on Sean Moore Park, and none on Ringsend Park, although counts 
of goose droppings did indicate minor use by geese during the winter of 2014/15. 
 
Light-bellied Brent Goose use of the grasslands as indicated by the density of droppings/m2 
provides a more reliable index of overall feeding use than direct counts of birds. Monitoring of 
dropping density along transects commenced on 26th November 2014, and continued through the 
winter of 2014/15. These data are given in Section 5 of this report.   

Page 129



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
9 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

 
 

 
 
Plate 1.  Brent geese on the compensatory grassland on 26th November 2014. 

 
 
Plate 2.  Part of a flock of 331 Brent geese on the compensatory grassland on 5th 

December 2014. Three piling rigs can be seen on the Dublin Waste to 
Energy Facility construction site in the background. 

 
 
 
 

Page 130



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
10 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

4.2. Other waterbird species. 

 
Four wader species were recorded in small numbers on the compensatory grassland between 
November 2013 and April 2014: Oystercatcher, Black-tailed godwit, Curlew, and Redshank 
(Table 4). Black-headed Gulls were recorded on a single occasion. 
 

Date 
Compensatory 

grassland 

 
Sean Moore Park 

 
Irishtown Stadium Ringsend Park 

26.11.14 
44 Oystercatcher  

1 Curlew 
3 Oystercatcher 2 Oystercatcher 2 Oystercatcher 

5.12.14 

41 Oystercatcher 
3 Black-tailed godwit 

1 Curlew 
2 Redshank 

3 Black-headed gulls 

17 Oystercatcher 
1 Oystercatcher 

25 Black-headed gulls 
62 Black-headed gulls 

15.12.14 

3 Oystercatcher 
2 Black-tailed godwit 

2 Redshank 
 

21 Oystercatcher  
1 Oystercatcher 

18 Black-headed gulls 

5.01.15 
23 Oystercatcher 

1 Redshank 
13 Oystercatcher 

20 Oystercatcher 
15 Black-headed gulls 

1 Oystercatcher 
41 Black-headed gulls 

28.01.15  12 Oystercatcher 2 Oystercatcher 
1 Oystercatcher 

29 Black-headed gulls 

18.02.15 
11 Oystercatcher 

1 Curlew 
4 Oystercatcher 

1 Black-headed gull 
14 Black-headed gulls 61 Black-headed gulls 

6.03.15  
12 Oystercatcher 

22 Black-headed gulls 
 27 Black-headed gulls 

19.03 15     

10.04.15     

Peak 
counts in 
2013/14 

47 Oystercatcher 
3 Black-tailed godwit 

2 Redshank 

41 Oystercatcher  
4 Redshank 

25 Oystercatcher 
20 Black-headed gull 

4 Herring gull 

18 Oystercatcher 
80 Black-headed gull 

Peak 
counts in 
2012/13 

11 Oystercatcher 
12 Redshank 

3 Mallard 

9 Oystercatcher 
18 Redshank 

150 Black-headed Gulls 

9 Oystercatcher 
21 Black-headed Gulls 

1 Herring Gull 

1 Oystercatcher 
97 Black-headed Gulls 

5 Common Gulls 

Peak 
counts in 
2011/12 

64 Oystercatcher 
15 Black-tailed Godwit 

2 Curlew 
11 Redshank 

30 Oystercatcher 
8 Black-headed Gulls 

17 Oystercatcher 
1 Common Gull 

66 Black-headed Gulls 
2 Herring Gulls 

9 Oystercatcher 
37 Black-headed Gulls 

 

Peak 
counts in 
2010/11 

21 Oystercatcher 
11 Black-tailed Godwit 

1 Curlew 
7 Redshank 

12 Black-headed Gulls 
 

11 Oystercatcher 
9 Black-tailed Godwit 

11 Redshank 

10 Oystercatcher 
39 Black-headed Gulls 

6 Oystercatcher 
77 Black-headed Gulls 

Peak 
counts in 
2009/10 

51 Oystercatcher 
1 Lapwing 

14 Black-tailed Godwit 
1 Curlew 

4 Redshank 
2 Black-headed Gulls 

56 Oystercatcher 
5 Redshank 

22 Black-headed Gulls 

16 Oystercatcher 
280 Black-headed Gulls 

1 Herring Gull 
1 Lesser Black-backed 

Gull 

9 Oystercatcher 
140 Black-headed Gulls 

Peak 
counts in 
2008/09 

29 Oystercatcher 
74 Black-tailed Godwit 

1 Curlew 
13 Redshank 

37 Oystercatcher 
9 Black-headed Gulls 

18 Oystercatcher 
16 Oystercatcher 

11 Black-headed Gulls 

Peak 
counts in 
2007/08 

15 Oystercatcher 
5 Black-tailed Godwit 

5 Redshank 

71 Oystercatcher 
31 Black-headed Gulls 

41 Oystercatcher 
24 Black-headed Gulls 

3 Common Gulls 

13 Oystercatcher 
68 Black-headed Gulls 

 
Table 4. Waterbird species other than geese recorded on grasslands in the Ringsend area 

between November 2014 and April 2015. Peak counts of each species, in each site, are 
bold-faced. Blank cells indicate that no waterbirds were present when individual sites 
were checked. 

Page 131



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
11 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

All of the waterbird species using grasslands in the Ringsend area were recorded in small numbers, 
in comparison with the numbers recorded in intertidal habitats in Dublin Bay and South Dublin Bay 
(Tables 4 and 5).  
 

 

 
Peak count 

Dublin Bay * 
Peak count 

South Dublin 
Bay * 

Peak count 
Compensatory  

Grassland 

Threshold for 
international 
importance 

Oystercatcher 3,074 1,546 44 8,200 

Black-tailed Godwit 1,362 222 3 610 

Curlew 932 105 1 8,400 

Redshank 2,077 508 2 3,900 

Black-headed Gull 2,649 2,280 3 20,000 

Table 5.  Peak counts of waterbird species recorded on the compensatory grassland during 
the monitoring programme in 2014/15, compared with I-WeBS peak counts in 
Dublin Bay and South Dublin Bay in 2013/13.  

* Data were supplied by the Irish Wetland Bird Survey (I-WeBS), a joint scheme of BirdWatch Ireland and the 
National Parks and Wildlife Service of the Department of Arts, Heritage & the Gaeltacht. I-WeBS data for 
2014/15 are not available yet for comparison. 

 
 
  

Page 132



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
12 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

5. GOOSE USE OF GRASSLANDS 

 
Light-bellied Brent Goose use of the grasslands as indicated by the density of droppings/m2 
provides a more reliable index of overall feeding use than direct counts of birds. Monitoring of 
dropping density along transects commenced on 26th November 2014, and continued through the 
winter of 2014/15 until 10th April 2015. The winter of 2014/15 was generally mild, there were no 
periods of snow cover on the grasslands, unlike the winter of 2010/11 when snow cover extended 
for some 25 days.  
 
Average goose use of all monitored grasslands during the monitoring programme is shown in Table 
6 and Figure 4. Use of the compensatory grassland was higher in 2014/15 than in the previous four 
seasons, and also higher than the monitoring programme average use for this site (Table 7).  
 

Grassland 
area 

Transect 
 

2007/08 
 

 
2008/09 

 

 
2009/10 

 

 
2010/11 

 

 
2011/12 

 
2012/13 

 
2013/14 

 
2014/15 

Compensatory 
Grassland 

All transects 0.66 3.14 6.18 1.55 2.36 2.88 3.69 4.38 

Sean Moore  
Park 

East  
pitch 

1.94 0.86 1.97 0.33 0.32 3.14 0.88 0.31 

West  
pitch 

2.19 0.27 0.85 0.34 0.13 1.74 0.69 0.14 

Irishtown 
Stadium 

 3.78 3.83 5.05 2.96 4.21 4.56 5.82 4.50 

Ringsend Park 
 

 0.49 0.96 1.22 1.26 1.01 2.03 0.79 0.17 

 
Table 6. Light-Bellied Brent goose grazing pressure (droppings/m2) averaged across all 

transects, in each winter season of the monitoring programme.  
 

 
 
 
Figure 4.  Light-Bellied Brent goose grazing pressure (droppings/m2) averaged across all 

transects, in each winter season of the monitoring programme. 

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Average goose grazing pressure in all years

Ringsend Park   Compensatory grassland Irishtown Stadium

Sean Moore Park East Sean Moore Park West

Page 133



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
13 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

Light-bellied Brent Goose overall grazing intensity has been higher in Irishtown Stadium than in the 
other monitored grasslands (compensatory grassland, Sean Moore Park and Ringsend Park) in the 
Ringsend area in seven of the last eight years (Table 6, Figure 4). In the years since management 
of the compensatory grassland was improved in 2008, the compensatory grassland and Irishtown 
Stadium have been the most intensively used of the monitored Ringsend grasslands. This is 
reflected in the mean dropping density averaged over all years of the monitoring programme: with 
an overall average of 4.46 goose droppings/m2 in Irishtown Stadium, compared with a mean density 
of 3.11 droppings/m2 in the compensatory grassland (Table 7). Excluding the winter season of 
2007/08, mean grazing intensity was 3.45 droppings/m2 on the compensatory grassland. In 
2014/15, goose grazing intensity was very similar in both sites with a seasonal average of 4.5 
droppings/m2 on Irishtown Stadium, and 4.38 droppings/m2 on the compensatory grassland. Use 
of individual transects is considered in section 5.1.  
 

 

Grassland area Transect 
 

Mean density  
all years 

 
Standard 
deviation 

 
Compensatory Grassland 
 

All transects 3.11 1.71 

Sean Moore Park 

East  
pitch 

1.22 1.03 

West 
pitch 

0.79 0.78 

 
Irishtown Stadium 
 

 4.46 0.97 

 
Ringsend Park 
 

 0.99 0.56 

 
Table 7.  Mean density of goose droppings/m2 recorded on the Ringsend grasslands 

averaged over all years 2007/08, 2008/09, 2009/10, 2010/11, 2011/12, 2012/13, 
2013/14, and 2014/15. Standard deviations are also given.  

 
 
Sean Moore Park and Ringsend Park have been less intensively used by the geese during the 
monitoring programme to date (Tables 6 and 7, Figure 4). 
  

Page 134



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
14 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

5.1. Grazing intensity on individual transects 

 
The mean density of goose droppings on all grassland transects on each survey date is given in 
Table 8, these data are presented graphically in Figure 5. Grazing intensity in the compensatory 
grassland transects averaged over the 2014/15 season varied from 2.09 on transect T10, to 6.44 
on transect T1B (see Figure 2). Mean densities of goose droppings on all transects, averaged over 
each season of the monitoring programme, are given in Table 9, together with mean density since 
2008, and are shown graphically in Figure 6 (page 17). These data indicate that goose grazing 
intensity was higher than average on 8 of the 9 transects on the compensatory grassland during 
2014/15, and slightly lower than average on one of the compensatory grassland transects (T10). 
Goose grazing intensity was higher on four of the transects on the compensatory grassland than 
on Irishtown Stadium in 2014/15: T1A, T1B, T2A and T2B (see Figure 2).  
 
 

Grassland area Transect 
26.11 
2014 

5.12 
2014 

15.12 
2014 

5.01 
2015 

28.01 
2015 

18.02 
2015 

6.03 
2015 

19.03 
2015 

10.04 
2015 

Season 
mean 

Compensatory 
Grassland 

T1A 1.62 5.79 7.70 6.59 4.55 5.13 6.08 5.11 1.42 4.89 

T1B 0.66 4.54 11.89 8.25 7.16 9.35 6.39 3.87 5.89 6.44 

T1C 0.03 0.91 5.89 6.86 5.42 3.95 2.81 1.32 5.73 3.66 

T2A 1.09 5.55 8.20 6.16 4.63 6.24 6.46 6.05 4.45 5.43 

T2B 0.11 3.64 8.89 4.66 6.18 8.70 7.78 6.71 7.33 6.00 

T2C 0 2.12 5.54 3.66 4.13 4.52 5.28 4.41 3.99 3.74 

T10 0 5.38 4.18 1.34 1.49 2.50 1.90 1.78 0.26 2.09 

T30 0.81 4.1 5.36 3.36 2.89 3.71 4.07 3.31 1.92 3.28 

T60 1.6 4.77 6.20 3.44 2.32 4.69 4.39 4.38 2.98 3.86 

Sean Moore Park 
East pitch 0 0 0 0.83 0 0.09 1.06 0.84 0 0.31 

West pitch 0 0 0.01 0.13 0.05 0.006 0.53 0.49 0 0.14 

Irishtown Stadium  0.42 2.15 3.94 7.23 5.29 3.98 5.10 8.49 3.88 4.50 

Ringsend Park  0 0 0 0.18 0.04 0.24 0.31 0.71 0.04 0.17 

 
Table 8.  Mean density of goose droppings/m2 recorded on all transects on each survey date 

in winter 2014/15, and average density on each transect throughout the winter 
season (Season mean).  

 
 

Grassland area Transect 
 

2007/08 
 

 
2008/09 

 

 
2009/10 

 

 
2010/11 

 

 
2011/12 

 
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 

Mean 
2008/09 

to 
2014/15 

Standard 
deviation 
08/09 – 
14/15 

Compensatory 
Grassland 

T1A 0.04 2.39 6.19 1.90 2.44 3.20 4.73 4.89 3.68 1.61 

T1B 0.09 2.04 5.54 1.55 2.27 4.67 5.76 6.44 4.04 2.03 

T1C 0.02 0.63 4.49 0.89 0.54 4.00 1.46 3.66 2.24 1.74 

T2A 2.14 5.55 6.84 1.70 4.27 2.54 4.34 5.43 4.38 1.78 

T2B 0.80 6.14 9.63 1.88 2.65 4.38 4.29 6.00 5.00 2.58 

T2C 0.05 2.01 5.73 1.75 1.73 2.92 3.06 3.74 2.99 1.42 

T10 0.49 3.27 5.26 1.45 2.21 1.04 2.12 2.09 2.49 1.40 

T30 1.09 2.52 5.52 1.52 2.69 1.63 3.84 3.28 3.00 1.39 

T60 1.24 3.69 6.39 1.29 2.45 1.55 3.62 3.86 2.84 1.07 

Sean Moore Park 

East 
pitch 

1.94 0.86 
1.97 0.33 0.32 3.14 0.88 0.31 1.12 1.07 

West 
pitch 

2.19 
0.27 0.85 0.34 0.13 1.74 0.69 0.14 0.59 0.57 

Irishtown Stadium  3.78 3.83 5.05 2.96 4.21 4.56 5.82 4.50 4.42 0.90 

Ringsend Park  0.49 0.96 1.22 1.26 1.01 2.03 0.79 0.17 1.06 0.56 

 
 
Table 9.    Mean density of goose droppings/m2 recorded on all transects in 2007/08, 

2008/09, 2009/10, 2010/11, 2011/12, 2012/13, 2013/14, and 2014/15. Means and 
standard deviations for all years from 2008/09 to 2014/15 are also given. 

 

Page 135



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
15 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

 

 

 

 
 
Figure 5.     Mean density of goose droppings/m2 recorded on compensatory grassland 

transects (4.1) 1 and 2, (4.2) 10, 30 and 60, and (4.3) a comparison of the 
Compensatory Grassland (CG) with the other grasslands in the Ringsend area, 
in 2014/15. 

 
 

0

5

10

15

20

26-Nov 05-Dec 15-Dec 05-Jan 28-Jan 18-Feb 06-Mar 19-Mar 10-Apr

D
ro

p
p
in

g
s
/m

2
Figure 5.1.    2014/15

T1A T1B T1C T2A T2B T2C

0

5

10

26-Nov 05-Dec 15-Dec 05-Jan 28-Jan 18-Feb 06-Mar 19-Mar 10-Apr

D
ro

p
p

in
g

s
/m

2

Figure 5.2.   2014/15

T10 T30 T60

0

5

10

26-Nov 05-Dec 15-Dec 05-Jan 28-Jan 18-Feb 06-Mar 19-Mar 10_Apr

D
ro

p
p

in
g

s
/m

2

Figure 5.3. 2014/15

SMP East SMP West IS RP CG

Page 136



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 
16 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15 

 

6. SUMMARY OF WATERBIRD USE OF THE COMPENSATORY 
GRASSLAND. 

 
The Project Agreement was signed on Friday 19th September 2014. Site clearance and setup 
commenced in October. Piling works at the approved project site, using Continuous Augered Piles 
(CFA Piles), commenced during the week starting 20th October, initially with one piling rig and 
subseqently with three rigs. Piling and foundation works continued through the winter season. 
Construction of above ground structures commenced in March 2015. 
 
Light-bellied Brent Geese were first recorded feeding in intertidal habitats in South Dublin Bay on 
20th September 2014, when 15 birds were observed feeding on the Zostera bed near Merrion 
Gates. There was a high standing crop of green macroalgae in intertidal habitats in Dublin Bay 
during the autumn of 2014, related to prolonged warm sunny weather.  Brent geese continued to 
feed on green macroalgae in December, with 225 birds feeding to the south of the Poolbeg 
peninsula on 15th December.  
 
Brent Geese started to feed on the compensatory grassland in late November 2014, and a peak 
count of 331 was recorded on 5th December 2014. Feeding use had been recorded on all transects 
by 5th December. Use of the compensatory grassland was higher in 2014/15 than in the previous 
four seasons, and also higher than the monitoring programme average use of this site.  
 
In the years since management of the compensatory grassland was improved in 2008, the 
compensatory grassland and Irishtown Stadium have been the most intensively used of the 
monitored Ringsend grasslands. Goose grazing intensity was higher than average on 8 of the 9 
transects on the compensatory grassland during 2014/15, and slightly lower than average on one 
of the compensatory grassland transects (T10). Goose grazing intensity was higher on four of the 
transects on the compensatory grassland than on Irishtown Stadium in 2014/15. 
 
All of the waterbird species recorded on the compensatory grassland make feeding use of 
grassland habitats as well as intertidal habitats. Redshank, Curlew and Black-tailed Godwit 
generally use wet grassland, or temporarily flooded grassland which does occur within the 
compensatory grassland. Oystercatchers use dry grasslands as well as wet grasslands. 
 

 

7. REFERENCES 
 
Benson, Lorainne (2009). Use of inland feeding sites by Light-bellied Brent Geese in Dublin 2008-

2009. M.Sc Project. School of Biology and Environmental Science, University College 
Dublin. 

 
I-WeBS News (2015). The newsletter of the Irish Wetland Bird Survey. Issue 19 August 2015. 

BirdWatch Ireland.  
The Irish Wetland Bird Survey (I-WeBS) is a joint scheme of BirdWatch Ireland and the National Parks and Wildlife 
Service of the Department of Arts, Heritage & the Gaeltacht. 

  

Page 137



DUBLIN WASTE TO ENERGY FACILITY 

 

WILDFOWL MONITORING 2014/15                                                                                                                                                                                                                     PAGE 17 

 

 

 
Figure 6. Mean density of goose droppings/m2 recorded on the transects in 2007/08, 2008/09, 2009/10, 2010/11, 2011/12, 

2012/13, 2013/14 and 2014/15. 
  

Note: data are averaged for each transect across all survey dates in each season. 
 
 
 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Compensatory Grassland T1A

Compensatory Grassland T1B

Compensatory Grassland T1C

Compensatory Grassland T2A

Compensatory Grassland T2B

Compensatory Grassland T2C

Compensatory Grassland T10

Compensatory Grassland T30

Compensatory Grassland T60

Sean Moore Park East pitch

Sean Moore Park West pitch

Irishtown Stadium

Ringsend Park

P
age 138



 

 

                                                         Environment and Transportation Department, 
                                                           Block 2, Floor 6,      

                                                         Civic Offices, 
                                                         Dublin 8. 

 
13th November, 2015 

To Each Member of the 

Environment Strategic Policy Committee 

 

Meeting Dates, 2016 
 
 
The meeting dates of the Environment Strategic Policy Committee for 2016 to be held in the Council 
Chamber, City Hall, at 4.00pm are set out below.  
 

Wednesday, 24th February, 2016. 

Wednesday 27th April, 2016. 

Wednesday 29th June 2016.                                                          

Wednesday 28th September, 2016. 

Wednesday 30th November, 2016.  

 

 

Declan Wallace 
Director of Traffic 
 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

                                                         Environment and Transportation Department, 
                                                         Block 2, Floor 6,      

                                                         Civic Offices, 
                                                         Dublin 8. 

 
13th November, 2015 

To Each Member of the 

Environment Strategic Policy Committee 

 

Motion in the name of Councillor Anthony Connaghan 

That the Manager arranges for a full review of litter bins in the Northwest Area. Can the 

Manager arrange for bins which were removed in recent times to be replaced. There is an 

large amount of dog dirt being bagged and dropped around the place which might be 

avoided if bins were in place to put the bags into. 

Reply:- 

In 2013, the Waste Management Division carried out a Bin Survey which mapped all the 

litter bins across the City. This survey revealed that there were approximately 3,500 litter 

bins, mapped their GPS co-ordinates and the type/condition of each bin etc.  This 2013 

survey will shortly be brought up to date and will provide detailed information on the numbers 

and locations of bins in all Areas, including the North West Area. We are also proposing to 

have a unique ID number for each bin. 

In the past, a small number of bins were removed where they were being persistently 

abused. The procedure as agreed with Councillors some years ago was that a bin would not 

be removed without giving local Councillors seven days notice to submit their observations. 

As part of preparing the new Draft Litter Management Plan for today’s SPC meeting, it has 

been suggested that the abuse of bins by a small minority of people should not necessarily 

mean that the bin is removed. All efforts should be made in the first instance to track down 

those people who are abusing the bin and I agree with this approach. There is also an 

impression that bins were removed on a large scale Citywide however that is simply not the 

case. 

In the new Draft Litter Management Plan, we will be explaining that we will put in place a 

Litter Bin Policy for the City setting out the parameters as to when and where a litter bin will 

be located e.g. litter bins should be placed at bus stops, neighbourhood shops, schools etc. 

and there would have to be a clear rationale for placing litter bins in residential estates.  The 

new Draft Litter Management Plan will also set out the proactive measures that we will be 

Page 141



2 

 

taking to address the serious problem of dog fouling which many people have highlighted as 

a key concern. 

 

Brian Hanney 
Senior Executive Officer 
Waste Management Services 
Environment & Transportation Department 

Page 142


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Environment Strategic Policy Committee meetings
	3 Correspondence (See attached)
	4 SPC submission on Draft City Development Plan
	5 Air Quality in the Ringsend Area – Joe McCarthy (Attached)
	6 Air Quality Presentation (Presentation Attached)
	7 Draft Dublin City Council Litter Management Plan 2016 – 2018 (Plan Attached)
	8 Dublin Waste to Energy update report. (Report Attached)
	9 Draft Transparency Code – Regulation of Lobbying Act 2015 (Report Attached)
	10 Meeting Dates 2016
	11 Motion referred from the North West Area Committee



